STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Aiken County

Doyet A. Early, III, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ANTONIO MILLER,

APPELLANT

Appellate Case No. 2012-208640

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the court erred, thereby violating the Fourth Amendment and appellant's right to privacy, by failing to suppress evidence located within the North Main Street home because the seized cocaine and guns were located in automobiles in the yard of that address, and the search warrant affidavit did not provide the Magistrate with a reliable sufficient nexus to provide probable cause that this was appellant's home and that he was secreting drugs, weapons, or the fruits of the Aiken murder within that home?

2.

Whether appellant's thirty year sentence for kidnapping should be vacated in the interests of judicial economy since that sentence was improper where appellant was also sentenced for murder?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the Aiken County Grand Jury for the offenses of murder, kidnapping, burglary in the first degree, and possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime. R.602. His case was called to trial on February 14, 2012 before the Honorable Doyet A. Early, III. Ola A. Johnson represented appellant. Elizabeth B. Young and Kevin Molony were the assistant solicitors. R. 1.

On February 17, 2012, the jury found appellant guilty as to each charge. R. 582, l. 13 – 583, l. 13. Judge Early sentenced appellant to life imprisonment for murder, life imprisonment for burglary in the first degree, thirty years for kidnapping, and five years imprisonment on the firearm offense. R. 592, l. 23 - 593, l. 20.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

1.

The court erred, thereby violating the Fourth Amendment and appellant's right to privacy, by failing to suppress evidence located within the North Main Street home because the cocaine and guns located in automobiles in the yard of that address, and the search warrant affidavit did not provide the Magistrate with a reliable sufficient nexus to provide probable cause that this was appellant's home and that he was secreting drugs, weapons, or the fruits of the Aiken murder within that home.

Relevant Facts

Defense counsel filed three separate motions to suppress. The relevant one in this case involved evidence of the drugs, guns, and counterfeit tennis shoes found within the North Main Street residence where a green Taurus rental car, that had not been timely returned, was located. Appellant asserted the search violated his Fourth Amendment right against unreasonable searches and seizures, and his right to privacy under Article I § 10 of the South Carolina Constitution. See Defendant's exhibits 1-3; Defense exhibit 3 at 1-3. Supp. R. 5. The murder in this case occurred on the morning of September 15, 2008 in Aiken. Co-defendant Cummings was from Aiken, and as will be seen infra there was evidence the decedent was a rather wealthy drug dealer.

A GPS with a "kill switch" was attached to the rental car that had been rented by appellant's girlfriend, Deidre King, off of Two Notch Road. On September 15, 2008, Officer Franklin Ham of the Richland County Sheriff's Department was dispatched to the U-Save Auto Rentals on Two Notch Road. There, he met manager Jeff Day who informed him that a green Taurus he had rented had not been returned. Day told Ham that the GPS

showed the vehicle was in Aiken, South Carolina. Therefore, he did not want to hit the “kill switch” and disable the vehicle while it was in Aiken. R. 7-9.

The GPS revealed that later in the day the car had returned to Trenholm Road in Columbia. This was shortly after noon. The car was then traced to 5520 North Main Street. R. 12.

In the motion to suppress, defendant’s exhibit #3, the defense argued “the search warrant contained insufficient information for the Magistrate to find probable cause to issue the warrant.” Motion at p. 2, Supp. R. 6. The motion noted that the police had a report that the stolen car - - a rental car rented by Deidra Miller - - was located at 5520 North Main Street. The affidavit to the search warrant stated that appellant was arrested for trafficking in crack cocaine when crack cocaine was discovered in the vehicle. The affidavit also said that appellant had **twelve prior arrests** for illegal narcotics. R. 598.

The search of the residence resulted “in the seizure of weapons that the state alleges to be linked to the scene of the murder [in Aiken] through a ballistics match as well as DNA evidence. The state also recovered shoes that the state alleges to be linked to the crime. The state also alleged that money and crack cocaine seized are from the home of the victim.” Supp. R. 5. (Page one of Motion to Suppress, defendant’s exhibit #3).

The motion to suppress also noted that the affidavit failed to “list any information about the relevance of the home at 5520 North Main Street or who resided there.” The motion alleged the Magistrate could not make a practical, common sense decision of whether, given the totality of the circumstances put forth in the affidavit, including the veracity and basis of knowledge a person supplying information, that there is a fair

probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found in a particular place.”
Supp. R. 6.

The motion further argued the affidavit failed to mention any connection between appellant and the car where the crack cocaine was located, and the residence at 5520 North Main Street. It was undisputed that no additional information outside of the affidavit was presented to the Magistrate. Supp. R. 6.

The motion also argued that the police only made conclusory statements in the affidavit for the search warrant which was improper. The motion argued that pursuant to Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution, and Article I, § 10 of the South Carolina Constitution, the search was unreasonable and a violation of appellant’s right to privacy. Supp. R. 6.

State’s Theory of the Case – an introduction

The state’s theory of the case was that appellant and three other men, including the state’s star witness, co-defendant Melvin Cummings, who was from Aiken, targeted the decedent because he was a drug dealer. The state tracked the green Taurus, through the rental car agency, to Aiken at about the time the decedent’s house was burglarized, and he was killed. The state essentially asserted it was “luck” that the GPS tracked the green Taurus to Aiken, and back to North Main Street.

Once Cummings and appellant arrived back in Columbia in the green rental Taurus, they went by Books a Million in Trenholm Plaza where Cumming’s girlfriend worked. From there, Cummings got in his girlfriend’s red Taurus and eventually made his way to the North Main Street address. Cummings was stopped as he pulled into the North Main Street driveway where the police knew the green Taurus was already located. Cummings was

arrested for DUS, and removed from the vehicle. Shortly thereafter, a gun was found in the red Taurus during a search. Cummings asserted appellant planted this weapon after he was arrested and while the police were distracted. Crack cocaine was then discovered during search of the green Taurus. During this time, the police only had vague information from a “confidential informant” in Aiken, because Cummings was from Aiken, that the decedent had been killed in Aiken around the same time the green rented Taurus was tracked to Aiken. The police certainly did not have probable cause to believe that appellant or Cummings were involved in the Aiken murder at the time the crack cocaine was found inside the rental vehicle which gave rise to the search warrant for 5520 North Main Street.

The evidence

Deputy Ham testified that Cummings was arrested for driving under suspension when he turned the red Taurus into the yard at 5520 North Main Street where the green rented Taurus was already located. R. 11-15. Ham said appellant gave him the name “Eric Huey” when asked for his identification. Ham later found out was a false name when appellant’s girlfriend arrived in the yard, and told him appellant’s real name. Ham also said appellant went inside the red Taurus and the police suspected him of planting a gun inside the red Taurus. As stated, crack cocaine was found inside the green Taurus after it was searched as well. R. 17.

Richland County Sheriff’s Department Investigator Stephen Dauway testified that on September 15, 2008 he was called to the North Main Street yard after the gun was found inside the red Taurus. R. 22-26. Dauway was asked, on cross-examination during the suppression hearing, if appellant was free to leave when he arrived at the North Main Street where two vehicles cars were located in the yard. Dauway answered: “When I initially got

there, he was free to leave. And as the investigation went on, I found a gun in one car and crack in the other car. At that time, he wasn't free to leave at that time." R. 34, ll. 14-19. After the crack cocaine was found Dauway acknowledged: "I called some [other] officers . . . and that led to a search warrant." Dauway estimated the green Taurus was about two feet from the residence they wanted to search. R. 36, l. 14 – 37, l. 24.

Narcotics Investigator Marcus Brown was then called to the North Main Street location. He testified: "Dauway called me and stated they were out with a guy who had a large quantity of crack cocaine and a couple of guns, and they wanted me to see if I could get a search warrant for the residence." R. 36, l. 18 – 37, l. 11.

Brown said he when he heard that Cummings was from Aiken, as coincidentally was Brown, "I texted an informer that I had been using on several occasions that knew Mr. Cummings. And they said that they didn't know him, but did I know that Fred Tucker had been killed this morning [in Aiken]." Brown then asked Cummings about Tucker "and he said Fred was after his cousin." R. 39, ll. 2-13. Brown recalled that Cummings told him he was in Augusta that morning, and appellant told him that he was in Charleston. R. 39, ll. 16-24.

When the weapon was found inside the red Taurus, Brown related that he thought appellant actually planted the weapon in the red Taurus "because we observed him in the back seat." R. 41, ll. 1-10. Brown said Cummings denied the weapon was his and he told Brown "he had no idea how it got into the back seat, the other weapon, and he stated it had to be Antonio Miller's weapon." R. 41, ll. 16-21.

Brown testified he told appellant at the time that "it's kind of messed up that you're putting this other gun in here on your friend when it's pretty obvious that the gun belonged

to you.” R. 42, ll. 5-22. Appellant told Brown he was worried about picking up his child at school while all of this was transpiring, and Brown responded that they could call his wife to get the child or “*we’ll call DSS to take control of the child* until we get the situation taken care of.” R. 42, l. 23 – 43, l. 7. (emphasis added). It was at that time that Brown acknowledged appellant agreed to talk to him. R. 43, ll. 8-11.

Brown maintained he read appellant his Miranda¹ warnings and appellant admitted he placed the gun in the back seat “of the vehicle while the officer’s attention was diverted.” When Brown asked appellant about the crack cocaine in the green rented Taurus, he said appellant responded: “Yes, it’s mine, too. And that’s when I told him at that time that he was being placed under arrest. And someone placed handcuffs on him.” R. 46, ll. 17-25.

Appellant was charged for possession of the drugs and the weapon. Brown said he learned that Melvin Cummings was a person of interest in the Aiken County murder earlier that day. R. 46, l. 17 – 47, l. 20.

Brown remembered Deidre King or Deidre Miller returned to the scene in the North Main Street yard where the two Taurus vehicles were located. Brown said she had some outstanding arrest warrants against her, and Brown told the manager of the rental car lot that as soon as they finished processing the scene they would return the green Taurus to him. Brown recalled: “At that time, a call was made to Richland County Investigator Robert Crane, and I asked him was he still at the office. And I asked him if he would type a search warrant for me.” R. 49, ll. 8-18. Brown identified the search warrant that Crane signed for him. R. 50, ll. 13-15. Forty-five minutes to an hour later Crane returned with the search

¹ Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966)

warrant signed by the Magistrate, “and then we made entry into the residence.” R. 51, ll. 2-17.

Brown testified that crack cocaine was found in the master bedroom dresser drawer “and some weapons were found in the closet.” R. 51, ll. 20-24. Two other weapons were found inside the residence and Brown remembered there appeared to be blood on one of the weapons and blood on some tennis shoes inside the residence. R. 52, ll. 2-14.

Brown said he told then appellant: “If you don’t tell us about the drugs” that he was going to “*charge you and your wife with trafficking in crack cocaine and weapons charges* because it was in the master bedroom.” Appellant stated: “Okay, I’ll claim it.” Brown maintained another investigator told appellant he could not just “claim it,” and then appellant stated “that the drugs found in the top dresser drawer and the guns found in the closet” belonged to him. R. 53, ll. 2-16. Brown reiterated on redirect examination that three guns were found in the residence as a result of the search warrant. R. 61, ll. 15-20.

Investigator Crane acknowledged he drafted the search warrant for 5520 North Main Street on September 15, 2008 as requested. Crane said he “ran” appellant’s criminal history and discovered appellant had “at least twelve occasions for illegal narcotics,” and therefore he swore out the search warrant affidavit before Judge Cuff. Crane took the search warrant to 5520 North Main Street and gave it to Investigator Marcus Brown. R. 64, l. 14 – 65, l. 12.

On cross-examination Crane admitted the search warrant *did not state* who lived at 5520 North Main Street, nor did it contain any information *about appellant ever entering that house*. R. 65, l. 22 – 66, l. 5. The following occurred on cross-examination of Crane:

Mr. Johnson: Is there any information about confidential informants saying that drugs are being sold out of

5520 North Main Street or the presence of illegal drugs within that location?

Mr. Crane: No, sir.

Mr. Johnson: Was the Magistrate informed of any connection all through that search warrant between Antonio Miller or Ms. Miller and that location?

Mr. Crane: Just like the affidavit said, that Mr. Miller, the vehicle he had rented, was at the residence, you know, in the yard of the location.

Mr. Johnson: Is that what it says?

Mr. Crane: It says that the GPS tracking unit put the green Taurus or the said vehicle at 5520 North Main Street.

Mr. Johnson: Does it say that, or does it say to be in the 5520 Main Street area?

Mr. Crane: Deputies responded and observed the said vehicle parked in front of the location, the incident location.

Mr. Johnson: Where are you at?

Mr. Crane: I'm on the third line from the bottom, or second line from the bottom. Deputies respond to location and observed the said vehicle parked in front of the incident location. And upon approaching the said vehicle, deputies made contact with Mr. Miller.

Mr. Johnson: Okay. And it says nothing about Mr. Miller being inside of the vehicle or being inside of the location, correct?

Mr. Crane: That's correct.

Mr. Johnson: Or Ms. Miller, or Deidre King, as she was known?

Mr. Crane: That's correct.

R. 66, l. 6 – 67, l. 14.

Investigator Taima Jordan testified that appellant said he would claim the drugs and weapons found inside the house. Jordan said he told appellant that “was not sufficient,” and that that “he and his wife both would be charged with those items.” In the face of this threat appellant admitted “they’re mine.” Appellant was then taken to headquarters where he refused to provide a written statement confirming his verbal admission of the contraband. R. 77, ll. 9-24.

Investigator Antony Branham remembered helping with the search warrant and finding a pair of counterfeit Nikes with blood on the inside. R. 84, l. 12 – 85, l. 14. Aiken County Investigator Jack Sanders assisted in the search of the residence. He testified “the tread pattern on these shoes looks similar to the ones we found on the [Aiken County Murder] scene.” R. 95, l. 6 – 97, l. 13.

Argument on Suppression

During the argument on suppression of the evidence, defense counsel noted there was “no linkage between that crack cocaine and Fred Tucker’s house.” The judge observed “the crack cocaine simply is a basis for getting a search warrant.” R. 110, l. 24 – 111, l. 5. Defense Counsel Johnson argued the law required “a finding of probable cause that some evidence of a crime is located within that location.”

At no point on the search warrant affidavit or anywhere does it say anybody lives at 5520 North Main. It doesn’t identify that as anybody’s residence.

It also doesn’t say anything about Mr. Miller or Ms. Miller entering the green Taurus, which is the breach of trust vehicle, I believe, where they found the suspected crack cocaine.

Now, if there’s no linkage to 5520, it’s impossible to see how a Magistrate, without additional sworn testimony, could discover that there’s probable cause to go into 5520 [they would] locate drugs or some illegal substance or evidence of a crime.

R. 111, l. 22 – 112, l. 10.

Defense counsel further argued “the search warrant affidavit says nothing about anybody going into 5520, coming out of 5520, or living there. And it’s impossible - - in my argument, I would say *it’s impossible to have that linkage that’s required for just basic probable cause.*” R. 113, ll. 3-8. (emphasis added). Defense counsel also noted there was no confidential informant saying that anybody was inside the residence or had contraband which would support a search warrant, and that “it’s just a bad search warrant, and basically all the items should be excluded as a result.” R. 113, ll. 9-16.

Defense counsel also noted that the report reflected *Aiken County investigators participated in the search* where three guns and the shoes were discovered and there was no probable cause to believe that fruit of that murder would be found inside and because “they didn’t get a special search warrant” for the items involving the murder scene, and they had to be suppressed. R. 113, l. 3 – 114, l. 8.

The solicitor argued that appellant was present in the yard with the rental car. The police wanted to give the rental car back to “the rightful owner, they found these drugs, and things proceeded from there.” R. 116, ll. 14-23.

Defense counsel repeated there was no confidential informant providing information to the police and the state’s argument was simply if someone was “*arrested and they’re near a car that has drugs in it, well, you can go search that house. And that’s basically what they’re arguing, because there’s nothing left. There’s nothing else in addition to the affidavit.*” R. 117, ll. 1-24. (emphasis added).

The judge stated he believed the Magistrate had a substantial basis for concluding probable cause existed to search the residence, and he denied the motion to suppress. R. 117, l. 25 – 118, l. 6.

Repeated trial objections to the fruit of the search

The defense would repeatedly object to evidence of the shoes that were found inside the residence with blood on them, that the state's expert, SLED DNA analyst Stephanie Stanley, testified was a match to the decedent's blood. R. 456, l. 1 – 464, l. 25.

The defense would also repeatedly object to the fruits of the search, or any item bearing any resemblance to it. R. 224, l. 11 – 225, l. 14 (reference to the crack cocaine); R. 260, l. 3 – 261, l. 18 (photographs of 5520 North Main Street); R. 278, ll. 2-14 (purported paraphernalia found in the house); R. 291, l. 14 – 293, l. 9 (the shoes with the blood stain); R. 393, l. 3 – 394, l. 17 (photographs and other evidence about the shoes); R. 477, l. 23 – 479, l. 8 (gun evidence); R. 484, ll. 1-18 (gun evidence); R.490, l. 6 – 491, l. 22 (gun evidence); R. 493, l. 21 – 494, l. 23 (gun evidence); R. 500, l. 18 – 501, l. 8 (gun evidence); R. 501, l. 16 – 502, l. 11 (gun evidence); R. 505, ll. 16-25 (gun evidence).

Melvin Cummings was allowed to plead guilty to involuntary manslaughter, armed robbery, and possession of a weapon during a violent crime for his role as the driver in the death of the decedent. He received a twenty year prison term even though he was originally charged with murder. R. 297, l. 22 – 298, l. 3.

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