ORIGINAL

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

---

Appeal from Aiken County  
The Honorable Doyet A. Early, III, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2012-208640

**THE STATE,**

Respondent,

v.

**ANTONIO MILLER,**

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH  
Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

J. ANTHONY MABRY  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 11973  
Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-6305

J. STROM THURMOND  
Solicitor, Second Judicial Circuit  
P. O. Drawer 3368  
Aiken, SC 29802

**ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT**

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

State v. Herring, 387 S.C. at 215.

In the present case, police did not search Miller’s residence without a warrant, but obtained what they believed to be a valid search warrant from a neutral and detached magistrate, who independently determined probable cause existed, and in reliance on that search warrant police searched Miller’s residence for drugs and items related to drug trafficking or distribution and recovered the murder weapons and the counterfeit tennis shoes, which both contained the victim’s DNA. The affidavit was not based on an informant’s information, but on facts developed in a joint investigation by Richland County and Columbia City Police officers. On this record, none of the four (4) circumstances listed above barring the application of the “good faith” exception apply: (1) There is no evidence the magistrate was misled by knowingly false or recklessly false information; (2) There is no contention the magistrate was not neutral and detached or acted as a rubber stamp; (3) The affidavit was not “so lacking in indicia of probable cause as to render official belief in its existence entirely unreasonable.” [See Dupree, 354 S.C. at 681, 583 S.E.2d at 439-440 (evidence of a sale of drugs supports an inference that more will be found at the place of operation)]; (4) The warrant particularly describes the place to be searched and the items to be searched for. Leon. Further, Miller gave police a false name upon police approaching him at his own residence. See State v. Davis, 354 S.C. 348, 580 S.E.2d 778 (Ct. App. 2003)(defendant’s

subterfuge provided a reasonable inference that something was located in the room which he did not want police to discover). The Fourth Circuit has rejected arguments similar to those made by Miller in this case, finding the good faith exception applied. See United States v. Harris, 215 Fed. Appx. 262, 272 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2007)(unpublished)(applying Leon good faith exception, despite officer's omission from affidavit (1) that defendant resided in targeted premises and (2) their grounds for believing that defendant lived there, because "[t]he apartment to be searched is prominently identified in the affidavit, and it is easy to read the affidavit and not realize that the officers failed to connect the final dots specifically linking the defendant to the apartment."), citing United States v. Procopio, 88 F.3d 21, 28 (1<sup>st</sup> Cir. 1996). See United States v. Williams, 548 F.3d 311 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2008)(applying good faith exception); United States v. Lelor, 996 F.2d 1578 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1993)(apply good faith exception). In this case, this was Miller's residence, and Miller was arrested immediately adjacent to the residence for crack cocaine found immediately adjacent to the residence in the *Green Taurus*. In such a situation, the good faith exception should apply and the exclusionary rule should not be enforced or applied. Davis, *supra*; United States v. Herring; Leon; State v. Herring.

#### *Inevitable Discovery*

Furthermore, even if this Court were to find Judge Early erred *and* the good faith exception did not apply, the evidence in question could or would have been inevitably discovered. At the suppression hearing, Investigator J. D. Sanders of Aiken County testified a 2<sup>nd</sup> search warrant was issued or obtained for Miller's residence. (R. pp. 95-99). According to Sanders, this warrant was obtained by Richland County investigators. While nothing was seized in Miller's residence pursuant to this search warrant, Sanders was informed by Richland County investigators the warrant was issued, and Aiken County investigators did inspect the interior of Miller's residence

for any evidence of the murder committed in Aiken. (R. pp. 95-99). As a result, if this information is true, this Court or the trial court could conclude the murder weapons and the tennis shoes would have inevitably been discovered. Nix v. Williams, 467 U.S. 431, 104 S.Ct. 2501 (1984); United States v. Allen, 159 F.3d 832 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1998); United States v. Whitehorn, 813 F.2d 646 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1987); State v. Brown (recognizing inevitable discovery is an exception to the exclusionary rule); State v. Jenkins, 398 S.C. 215, 727 S.E.2d 761 (Ct. App. 2012)(remanding to determine if inevitable discovery doctrine applied); State v. Bruce, 402 S.C. 621, 741 S.E.2d 590 (Ct. App. 2013)(recognizing exception but finding exception not met on the record before the Court); State v. Spears, 393 S.C. 466, 482, 713 S.E.2d 324, 332 (Ct. App. 2011)(evidence may be admitted “if the government can prove the evidence would have been obtained *inevitably*.” (emphasis added). See Herring v. United States, 555 U.S. 135, 129 S.Ct. 695 (No evidence Coffee County police committed any misconduct but mistakenly relied in good faith on neighboring county’s database, which mistakenly showed outstanding warrant for defendant’s arrest; therefore exclusionary rule was not applicable to fruits of defendant’s arrest). Judge Early did not reach this issue because he found the original search warrant contained sufficient probable cause. To the extent this Court determines Judge Early erred in not suppressing the fruit of the first search warrant, this Court should find the evidence would have been inevitably discovered, or this Court should remand this matter to the circuit court to develop a full record to determine whether the evidence would have been inevitably discovered through other means such as by a second search warrant, Aiken County’s reasonable reliance on Richland County’s communicating a second search warrant had been obtained, or whether the a valid consent to search was executed by Miller and/or his wife. See Jenkins, *supra* (remanding for a determination of whether the evidence would have been inevitably discovered).

### *Harmless Error*

Regardless, even if Judge Early erred in admitting the fruits of the search of Miller's home pursuant to the search warrant, the admission of this evidence was harmless because the evidence of Miller's guilt was overwhelming despite this evidence. Herring, *supra* (finding even if search of defendant's home was illegal any error was harmless given the overwhelming evidence of the defendant's guilt independent of the evidence seized in the defendant's home), *citing* State v. Gillian, 373 S.C. 601, 646 S.E.2d 872 (2007); State v. Garner, 304 S.C. 220, 222, 403 S.E.2d 631, 632 (1991)(holding improperly admitted evidence harmless error given overwhelming evidence of guilt). *See also* State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 625 S.E.2d 216 (2006).

### ***The evidence of Miller's guilt independent of the results of the search of his residence***

At trial, Cummings' mother established Miller's presence in Aiken on the morning of the murder of the victim. She testified Miller arrived at her residence on Saturday, along with her son, Redfield and Grooms. She testified the four (4) men arrived at her residence on the Saturday before the murder in a *green Ford Taurus*. She identified the *green Ford Taurus* later seized by police as the vehicle they arrived in. She testified all four (4) men stayed at her residence until Monday morning, the day of the victim's murder, when she last saw them asleep in her living room at approximately 7:30 a.m., when she arrived home from work, before she went to her room to sleep. She awoke around 1:00 p.m. and Miller, her son, and the two (2) other men were gone. **(R. pp. 190-95).**

Cummings testified at trial and explained to the jury how the plan to rob the victim unfolded over several months. Cummings testified it was Miller who came up with the idea to rob the victim, and Cummings agreed to be the driver of the getaway vehicle. Cummings testified

Miller believed, because the victim was a known drug dealer, that he would have drugs and/or cash in his residence. Cummings testified he and Miller arrived in Aiken several days before the murder, staying at his mother's residence, and they "cased" the residence with several other men over the days preceding the murder. Cummings testified it was finally determined that Miller, Redfield, and Grooms would commit the armed robbery, while he waited in the car. Cummings testified he dropped the three (3) men off first at a cemetery, and the three (3) men returned without committing the crime. They then returned to his mother's residence where they slept. Cummings testified they tried again later in the morning. He dropped Miller, Redfield, and Grooms off at the victim's residence while he waited next door pretending to look at an automobile that was for sale. **(R. pp. 297-355).**

A neighbor of the victim, who heard the gunshots at the time of the victim's murder, testified three (3) separate men, one with dread-locks [Miller had dread-locks], all wearing black clothing, left out of the victim's home one (1) at a time after the shots were fired. She testified the three (3) men ran in the direction away from her home, toward where Cummings testified he was waiting. **(R. pp. 143-156).**

Another neighbor corroborated Cummings' testimony by informing the jury that at the time the gunshots were fired at the victim's residence, Cummings was at her residence standing with her looking at a car she had for sale. As a result, Cummings could not have been one (1) of the three (3) men who actually entered the victim's home and committed the murder, armed robbery, and kidnapping. This neighbor also testified that after she and Cummings heard the gunshots from the victim's residence, Cummings immediately left her yard in the *green car* he was driving, but in leaving her driveway, he appeared to be stopped waiting for someone. **(R. pp. 156-162).**

Cummings testified that after he heard the gunshots and left the neighbor's yard driving the *green Taurus*, he saw Miller, Redfield, and Grooms coming through some bushes, and he picked them up. Miller told Cummings to drive fast, and Miller told Cummings they had tortured the victim with a heated screwdriver and that he shot the victim before he left the house to leave no witness. **(R. pp. 297-355)**. Cummings testified one (1) of the co-defendant's discarded a screwdriver out the window of the car, and police corroborated that Cummings led them exactly to where they recovered a screwdriver as he described. **(R. pp. 297-355)**. Cummings testified the four (4) men then drove to Columbia, S.C. where they went to a *Books A Million* store where his fiancé worked, and he obtained the keys to the red Taurus from his fiancé. Cummings testified he and a female left from there to get something to eat, and he eventually went to Miller's residence shortly after lunch, because Miller summoned him there to help return the rental car [*the green Taurus*]. **(R. pp. 297-355)**.

The GPS tracking system established the *green Taurus* rented by Miller and his wife was located near the victim's residence around 6:00 a.m.. The GPS tracking system also established the *green Taurus* rented by Miller and his wife was on Gregg Avenue, in Aiken, near Cummings' mother's residence at around 9:30 a.m. on the date of the murder. The GPS tracking system also established that the *green Taurus* rented by Miller and his wife was in close proximity to the victim's residence, in Aiken, at the time the 911 call came in regarding the victim's murder. The testimony at trial established not only that Miller's wife had rented the vehicle, but that Miller made the last payment on the vehicle in person the Wednesday before the car was not returned to the rental agency. Further, Miller admitted to police he was driving the *green Taurus* on the morning of the murder; however, he falsely informed the police he was in Charleston not Aiken the morning of the murder. The GPS tracking system also showed the *green Taurus* had only

been to Aiken and Columbia on the date of the murder, not Charleston. **(R. pp. 162-188, 195-212).**

The GPS tracking system tracked the *green Taurus* rented by Miller from Aiken to Columbia, S.C. immediately after the victim's murder. And, then the GPS tracking system tracked the *green Taurus* used in the murder to Miller's own residence, *5522 North Main Street*, Columbia where it was found in the back yard backed up to the back porch of the house. Miller was there, next to the car, when police arrived looking for the vehicle. **(R. pp. 162-188, 195-212, 212-223, 224-287).**

A surveillance video from *Books A Million* established that Miller and Cummings were together at *Books a Million* exactly as Cummings testified. They were there together shortly after the murder of the victim, but after sufficient time had passed for them to have driven from Aiken to Columbia. **(R. pp. 327-332).**

Cummings testimony was further corroborated by what occurred at Miller's residence. Police testified the *green Taurus* was already at Miller's residence with Miller when Cummings pulled into the drive-way and was blocked in by the first responding officer. Cummings was driving the red Taurus and a female was in the car with him. **(R. pp. 195-212, 212-223, 224-287).**

An inventory search of *the green Taurus* rented by Miller, and beside which Miller was standing, revealed 22 grams of crack cocaine. **(R. pp. 195-212, 212-223, 224-287, 316-320).** The victim was a known drug dealer, and his house had been burglarized and ransacked by three (3) men dressed *in black* who entered his residence and bound, tortured and murdered him. **(R. pp. 367-432, 256-288, 297-355, 356-404, 408-508).** Testimony was admitted at trial that this crack cocaine, the twenty-two (22) grams, came from the victim's residence. **(R. p. 444).** Miller admitted to police the crack cocaine found *in the green Taurus* was his. **(R. pp. 195-212,**

212-223, 224-287, 316-320). Miller's fingerprints were found inside the *green Taurus*. (R. p. 392). Further, found in the trunk of the *green Taurus* rented by Miller, were two (2) *black* shirts, one (1) of which contained the DNA of the victim, Fred Tucker, from Aiken, S.C. (R. pp. 456-508). The evidence of Miller's guilt was overwhelming independent of what was found in his residence.

Even if the admission of the fruits of the search of Miller's home was erroneous, its admission was harmless given the overwhelming evidence of Miller's guilt introduced at trial independent of that found in Miller's residence. Herring; Gillian; Garner; Baccus. This ground of Miller's appeal must be dismissed.

### Conclusion

Judge Early did not err in finding the magistrate had a substantial basis for finding probable cause existed to issue the search warrant for Miller's residence. Even assuming *arguendo* Judge Early somehow erred in finding the magistrate had a substantial basis for finding probable cause existed, the exclusionary rule should not apply. Further, the evidence was still admissible because the officers relied in good faith on the search warrant issued by the Magistrate in searching Miller's residence. Further, even assuming *arguendo* the good faith exception does not apply, the evidence would have been inevitably discovered where a second search warrant was obtained and police inspected Miller's residence pursuant to the same, or reasonably relied on a neighboring county's assertion a second search warrant existed and inspected the residence. Finally, the admission of the evidence was harmless given the other overwhelming evidence of Miller's guilt independent of that recovered from Miller's residence. As a result, Miller's convictions for murder, burglary in the 1<sup>st</sup> degree, and kidnapping must be affirmed and this appeal dismissed.

## ARGUMENT TWO

**Appellant's thirty (30) year sentence for kidnapping should be vacated in the interests of judicial economy since that sentence was improper where Miller was also sentenced for murder, or the matter should be remanded to the circuit court for vacation of the sentence of thirty (30) years.**

As previously set forth, Miller was sentenced to life imprisonment for murder and thirty (30) years for kidnapping. It is error to sentence a defendant for kidnapping of a victim when he is also convicted of murdering the victim and sentenced on the murder indictment, and any sentence for kidnapping of the victim should be vacated in those circumstances. See State v. Vick, 384 S.C. 189, 682 S.E.2d 275 (Ct. App. 2009); State v. Johnston, 333 S.C. 459, 510 S.E.2d 423 (1999). As a result, even though this issue is not preserved, this Court may vacate the thirty (30) year *sentence* for kidnapping only, but not the conviction, or remand to the Circuit Court with instructions that the Circuit Court vacate the thirty (30) year sentence for kidnapping. Id.; Owens v. State, 331 S.C. 582, 503 S.E.2d 462 (1998); State v. Copeland, 278 S.C. 572, 300 S.E.2d 63 (1982); State v. Perry, 278 S.C. 490, 299 S.E.2d 324 (1983); State v. McCall, 304 S.C. 465, 405 S.E.2d 414 (Ct. App. 1991).

## CONCLUSION

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